AGENDA
City of Plymouth

PLANNING COMMISSION

REGULAR MEETING
THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2025
6:30 P.M.

mlllllltllll(((l(((((
SOSG PLY )y,

& O Oy %
SO O
g o - 2
88 N
| ¢ NS
2% R |
%7 N
%9 A
“,0, O
Uy, COUT
o™

9426 Main Street, Plymouth, California

Michael Sullivan, Chair

William Klaproth, Vice Chair Thomas Mikkelsen, Commissioner

Vacant Commissioner Seat Vacant Commissioner Seat

PLEASE NOTE: The Planning Commission may take up any agenda item at any time, regardless of the order listed.
Action may be taken on any item on the agenda. Members of the public who wish to speak may be subject to a three

(3) minute maximum time limit when addressing the Commission, and/or the Commission may require speaker
identification sheets be submitted to the Planning Clerk prior to being called upon by the Chairman to provide public

comment.




CITY OF PLYMOUTH

PLANNING COMMISSION
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2025 at 6:30 PM

Plymouth City Hall - 9426 Main Street Plymouth, California

Members of the public not attending in person may submit written public comment prior to the meeting
by emailing your comment to the Planning Clerk at dknight@cityofplymouth.org before 3:30 PM on
the day of the meeting. Emailed public comments will be distributed to the Commission and made
part of the official record.

Michael Sullivan, Chair
William Klaproth, Vice Chair Thomas Mikkelsen, Commissioner
Vacant Commissioner Seat Vacant Commissioner Seat

This meeting will be recorded. Council Chambers are wheelchair accessible. Special
accommodations may be requested by contacting the Planning Clerk 72 hours in advance
of the meeting.

Please silence all cell phones or similar devices.

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL:
¢ Roll Call
o Flag Salute

APPROVAL OF PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING AGENDA FOR
SEPTEMBER 18, 2025

PUBLIC COMMENT:

Under provisions of the Government Code, citizens wishing to address the Commission for any
matter not on the agenda may do so at this time by completing and submitting a Speaker Submittal
Form to the Planning Clerk or following the instructions noted on this agenda. Speakers will be
called by the Chair at the point on the agenda when the item will be heard. Speakers should keep
comments to three minutes or less and state their name and community of residence. Under
provisions of the California Government Code, the Commission is prohibited from materially
discussing or taking action on any item not on the agenda unless it can be demonstrated to be of
an emergency nature or an urgent need to take immediate action arose after the posting of the
agenda.

PRESENTATIONS/APPOINTMENTS: NONE

CONSENT CALENDARITEMS:

All matters listed under the Consent Calendar are to be considered routine and will be
enacted by one motion. If discussion is required, that particular item will be removed from the
consent calendar and will be considered separately.



5.1 APPROVAL OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING
MINUTES OF AUGUST 21, 2025
6. PUBLIC HEARINGS:

6.1 A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF PLYMOUTH
APPROVING A TEMPORARY USE PERMIT (PA 2025-12) TO ALLOW A
TEMPORARY HALLOWEEN ATTRACTION ON A 30 ACRE PARCEL LOCATED AT
9424 PACIFIC STREET (APN 010-150-016)

RECOMMENDATION: Hold a Public Hearing, receive public testimony, review,
discuss and adopt Resolution 2025-10.

7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: NONE
8. NEW BUSINESS:

8.1 REVIEW AND DISCUSS POTENTIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE USE MATRIX AND
DEFINITIONS FOR COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES

RECOMMENDATION: Conduct a Study Session, receive public testimony, review,
discuss and give staff direction on possible changes or additions to the Use Matrix.

9. REPORTS:

e Commission

e Chairperson

¢ Planning Director
o City Staff

10. ADJOURNMENT

The next regularly scheduled Planning Commission Meeting date is October 2, 2025. The meeting
will begin at 6:30 PM.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Public documents related to items on the open session portion of this agenda, which are distributed
to the Planning Commission no less than 72 hours prior to the meeting, shall be available for public
inspection at the Planning Clerk’s office located at Plymouth City Hall and at the time of the meeting.

NOTICE:

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need a disability-related
modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, to participate in this
meeting, please contact the Planning Clerk at (209) 245-6941 Ext. 254 at least 48 hours prior to
the meeting.

CERTIFICATION OF POSTING OF AGENDA

[, Dana Knight, Planning Clerk for the City of Plymouth, declare that the foregoing agenda for the
September 18, 2025 Regular Meeting of the Plymouth Planning Commission was posted and
available for review on September 15, 2025 at the City Hall of the City of Plymouth, 9426 Main
Street, Plymouth, California, 95669. The agenda is also available on the city website at

September 18, 2025 AGENDA 2



www.cityofplymouth.org.
Signed September 15, 2025 at Plymouth, California

I1sll

Dana Knight
Planning Clerk

September 18, 2025 AGENDA



S.1



CITY OF PLYMOUTH

PLANNING COMMISSION
DRAFT MINUTES

THURSDAY, AUGUST 21, 2025at 6:30 PM

Plymouth City Hall - 9426 Main Street Plymouth, California

Michael Sullivan, Chair
William Klaproth, Vice Chair Thomas Mikkelsen, Commissioner
Vacant Commissioner Seat Vacant Commissioner Seat

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: Meeting called to order at 6:30pm

Planning Commissioners Present: William Klaproth, Thomas Mikkelsen, Michael Sullivan

Planning Commissioners Absent: None

Staff/Advisory Present: Planning Director, Erica Fraser; Planning Clerk, Dana
Knight

APPROVAL OF PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING AGENDA FOR
AUGUST 21, 2025

Public Comment: Todd Ramos asked if the agenda had anything to do with town décor,
decorating and picking colors, as far as painting buildings and the outside. He stated his wife,
Francine Ramos, would like to offer up her services for ideas for future changes. Chair Sullivan
let him know that Design Guidelines are an item on the agenda and invited him to hang out.

Motion to approve the Regular Meeting Agenda for August 21, 2025 as presented by Vice Chair
Klaproth, second by Commissioner Mikkelsen. Motion passed by roll call vote with 3 Yes votes
by Mikkelsen, Klaproth and Sullivan with 0 No votes, 0 Abstain votes, with 0 Commissioners
absent.

PUBLIC COMMENT: None
PRESENTATIONS/APPOINTMENTS: NONE

CONSENT CALENDARITEMS:

All matters listed under the Consent Calendar are to be considered routine and will be
enacted by one motion. If discussion is required, that particular item will be removed from the
consent calendar and will be considered separately.

5.1 APPROVAL OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING
MINUTES OF JUNE 19, 2025

No Public Comment



Motion to approve the Consent Calendar as presented by Vice Chair Klaproth, second by
Commissioner Mikkelsen. Motion passed by roll call vote with 3 Yes votes by Mikkelsen
Klaproth and Sullivan with 0 No votes, 0 Abstain votes, with 0 Commissioners absent.

PUBLIC HEARINGS:

6.1 A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF PLYMOUTH
RECOMMENDING CITY COUNCIL APPROVAL OF DESIGN GUIDELINES AND
AMENDMENTS TO THE ZONING ORDINANCE (TITLE 19) RELATED TO THE CITY
OF PLYMOUTH DESIGN GUIDELINES AND TO COMPLY WITH STATE LAW

RECOMMENDATION: Hold a Public Hearing, receive public testimony, review,
discuss and adopt Resolution 2025-09.

Chair Sullivan opened the Public Hearing

Director Fraser stated that we have had two separate Planning Commission meetings to talk
about Design Guidelines and possible amendments to the Zoning Ordinance. Changes were
made to some of the design standards that were subjective standards to make them objective
standards to comply with state law. A grant was able to be used to pay for the changes, since
the state enacted the need for them to be changed. The Downtown Historic Guidelines have
been reformatted to add Mixed Use and Multi-Family to create one cohesive document that
can be updated as needed. Adding Mixed Use and Multi-Family designations is important, so
that we have some tools that we can use in case someone wants to build a structure that is
not cohesive to the area, such as a big box. No changes were made to the color palette, as
they are the colors that we have now and are a muted historical color palette.

Public Comment:

Todd Ramos asked Director Fraser if the changes she spoke about, such as a big box, is in
the residential area, so if someone came in and proposed a giant box, we could have them
change the design with the changes you are proposing. Director Fraser let Mr. Ramos know
that it is for Mixed Use and Multi-Family only, and that we don’t have design guidelines for
Single Family, but that is usually worked out through the planned development, where we
work on the design through that process. Mr. Ramos had some thoughts for the downtown
development that he thinks going forward should be in a positive direction with 40% Wine
Country, 40% Gold Miner type of look, and maybe Indian motif. Asked if there is some
master plan that has street design and architectural design for that? He stated that he is
strongly opposed to the ARCO Gas Station and feels that it would dramatically change the
feel of our town. Mr. Ramos also said that he is against the rezoning of the Chinese building
if they are planning on turning it into a rental. He is worried that if it gets sold, then rezoned,
that it could get turned into apartments. Then asked if the colors can be changed if we make
some proposals for some of the buildings?

Director Fraser explained that if he wanted to change the entire color palette for the
downtown, he would have to approach the City Council and ask if they wanted to open that
up, because there is a fiscal cost. The colors have been in place since 2012, and the funds
that we had were for minor changes and they would need to be paid back if this does not get
done. Her recommendation is that we do not stop this process at this point because it needs
to be fully approved by the end of the year, and changes can be made later that the City
would need to pay for. Director Fraser stated that there is no master plan for the downtown.

Public Hearing Closed by Chair Sullivan



After Commissioner discussion, a Motion to send a recommendation to the City of Plymouth
City Council asking for approval of the Design Guidelines and Amendments to the Zoning
Ordinance (Title 19) related to the City of Plymouth Design Guidelines and to comply with
State law, Resolution 2025-09, was made by Commissioner Mikkelsen, second by Vice Chair
Klaproth. Motion passed by roll call vote with 3 Yes votes by Mikkelsen, Klaproth and_
Sullivan with 0 No votes, 0 Abstain votes, with 0 Commissioners absent.

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: NONE
NEW BUSINESS: NONE

REPORTS:

e Commission — None

e Chairperson — None

¢ Planning Director
Director Fraser gave project updates through 8/14/25 & Long-Range Planning Updates.
Stated that anyone can call the City and talk with her or Dana on any project.

Residential Commercial Projects:

Greilich Ranch - Latest application submitted in 2024 remains incomplete, but they are
committed to moving forward.

Arroyo Woods - Application submitted in July 2025 for 109 Single Family Homes. They
submitted an application and tentative map but received a letter from us and we have not
heard back from them.

ARCO - Still a project and based on the last public review of the Mitigated Negative
Declaration, the consultant has identified some additional information changes that they
are going to make. We will need to take a contract amendment to Council so they can
proceed, because it will cost additional money. They have stated that they are willing to
work on the design, and it is recommended that they do a study session with the Planning
Commission to look at their design.

88 Room Hotel - Still a project but remains incomplete. We hear from them periodically,
but nothing has been submitted, so it remains incomplete.

9130 Main Street - Planning Commission recommendation got appealed to the City
Council, so the Appeal of that recommendation is going to be on the September 111
Agenda.

9451 Main Street - Application submitted for a bar and restaurant with live entertainment
that was incomplete, and a Notice of Incompleteness went out in August. When they
resubmit, it will come back as a Major Design Review to the Planning Commission due to
the nature of the outdoor design, bar and live music which requires Planning Commission
review.

9424 Pacific Street — Application submitted for a Temporary Use Permit for a Halloween
Attraction that will be elevated to the Planning Commission because of the nature of the
project, so it is in a public hearing.

18190 Sutter Street - Director Level Review of application for a multi-family project under
5000 square feet on .62-acre parcel of one-story units that will be affordable by design
since they are small. The application is incomplete, and we are working with the applicant.



10.

Long Range Planning:

Housing Element is not certified yet. The consultant is making changes and planner
needs to submit them to the state. Once it is certified, we will start meeting for
amendments to the code.

SB9 - Accessory Dwelling Units — The law changes every year, and we need to have
an ordinance. We are working with the attorney on this.

Short Term Rental Ordinance Amendment- We are working with the attorney on this.
Application Check Lists — Working on them when we can.

Density Bonus Ordinance — Needs to be updated.

Chapter 19.18 Design Review and Zoning Clearance — The permit outline is confusing
and needs to be clearer for everyone because it is open for interpretation and we may
differ on things. There are also subjective standards that need to be fixed. Will be coming
to the Commission soon.

Use Permits in the Downtown need to be cleaned up. Will try to get this and Chapter
19.18 in a Study Session, so we can work on them at the same time.

Submittal Checklist — Required by State law, but low on the list of priorities.

Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (WELO) — Working with a County Wide Planners
group to hopefully establish something County Wide.

General Plan Map and Zoning Map Errors — Parcels that were rezoned but the map was
not updated. When Zoning Map came through it mentioned making changes to the Zoning
Map, but it was not clear what the changes were supposed to be in the final adoption.
The city attorney and | cannot figure it out, and no changes were ever made, so that will
come back before the Commission and City Council. Errors in the Zoning Ordinance will
come back at some point. We are keeping track of them and will bring them all together.
Chair Sullivan thanked Director Fraser for her efforts in looking at all these things and
knows how busy she is because it is extra to do, but we hear complaints from people that
things are complicated and hard to do, so it is very appreciated.

Director Fraser added that Signs will be talked about when we talk about the downtown
because the process is a little jumbled and we can lump it together with the downtown
uses.

City Staff - None

ADJOURNMENT: _7:05 PM

Respectfully submitted,

11sll

Dana Knight
Planning Clerk



6.1



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1
9/18/2025

______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|

SUBJECT: Haunted Forest (9424 Pacific Street) Temporary Use Permit (PA
2025-12)

DEPARTMENT: Planning Department

STAFF: Erica Fraser, AICP, Planning Director

TITLE

Resolution approving a Temporary Use Permit for a Haunted Forest (Halloween
attraction) located at 9424 Pacific Street.

BACKGROUND

The applicant proposes to use the existing property for a Halloween attraction that
will feature temporary sets, decorations, actors, food trucks, and similar amenities.
Because this operation is temporary (for select days during the month of September
through the end of October) and not permanent, a Temporary Use Permit is required.

Temporary Use Permits are reviewed by the Planning Director. In this case, due to
the unique nature of the request and because the proposed attraction is located in a
residential area, the Planning Director has transferred the reviewing authority for this
permit to the Planning Commission in accordance with Section 19.04.140(B).

Site and Existing Conditions

The project site is a developed parcel located at 9424 Pacific Street. The property is
approximately 30 acres. The history of the site includes past industrial operations
and the site is developed with dirt roads, parking, and structures. The site is
connected to utilities. Although the site is currently zoned Standard Residential (SR),
this site was zoned industrial prior to the 2014 Zoning Ordinance update and the
industrial uses continued on the site until a few years ago.

The following figure shows the project location. A plan showing all parcels can be
found in the written statement included as Attachment 2 (please note that the
optional exit directly onto HWY 49 is not a part of this project as it was not approved
by Caltrans).



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1
9/18/2025

Figure 1: Project Location

Single Family
Residences

Haunted Forest R

&)

The closest single family residence is approximately 150 feet from the property line.
The attraction will take place further inside the property and away from the single
family residences in the surrounding neighborhood.

ANALYSIS

The proposed use, The Haunted Forest, is an interactive Halloween attraction. The
site will feature a haunted trail walk which includes Halloween sets/scenes (all
temporary, no structures are to be built) and actors. The site will also feature a
daytime attraction for children on specific days. For more information on the
operations, please refer to the Applicants written statement included as Attachment



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1
9/18/2025

2. The Applicant operated a similar attraction in another City for a number of years
prior to relocating to Plymouth.

The proposed application is for a Temporary Use Permit. This means that the City will
only be granting approval of The Haunted Forest for the end of September through
October of 2025. Should the operators wish to hold the attraction again next year,
they will need to reapply for a Temporary Use Permit, and the City can evaluate the
proposal again and require modifications or additional conditions if warranted.

Operation Characteristics

The Haunted Forest will be open from Wednesday through Saturday. The daytime
attraction (Enchanted Trail) will occur from 9 AM - 7 PM and the evening attraction
will occur from 7 PM - Midnight.

Tickets are pre-sold and come with a specific date and time entry. The time slots are
every 15 minutes with no more than 45 tickets per time block (the number of tickets
corresponds to people, not number of cars).

The site will also have two to three food trucks, and the existing truss shade structure
will be used as a picnic area.

Parking will occur on site in the existing parking lot for the existing building.

Although the existing site was developed with industrial uses, the proposed attraction
is within a residential neighborhood. Staff has received two objections (Attachment
5) in writing. Staff has some concerns with the ending of the attraction at midnight
on Wednesdays and Thursdays and traffic on a residential street at that time.

Staff recommends that Condition of Approval No. 2 be incorporated which reduces
the hours of operation to 9AM - 10PM Wednesday and Thursday. On weekends,
participants should be limited to 30 patrons during the hours of 10PM - Midnight to
limit the number of cars on Pacific Street. The Planning Commission, however, has
the approving authority and can allow the Applicant to proceed as proposed or further
limit the hours of operation.

Because this is a Temporary Use Permit and the Applicants will need to apply again
next year if they wish to operate during 2026, the Planning Commission can further
restrict the hours or expand the hours if warranted.

Employees and Security

The Haunted Forest will employ 30 to 40 part-time/seasonal employees.

The site will also employ security personnel who will be staged at the parking area,
food/seating area, check-in, and throughout the walking trail and site.



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1
9/18/2025

Circulation
Employee arrival and departures will occur before and after the hours of operation.

Guests will arrive in intervals based on the timed ticketing system. With the time
ticketing system, no more than 45 people may start the attraction every 15 minutes.
Most participants will carpool so it is estimated that there will be 15 cars every 15
minutes (average of 3 persons per car).

Cars driving to The Haunted Forest will be required to enter on the southern
connection of HWY 49 and Pacific Street. The road at HWY 49 is long and will allow
cars to exist smoothly onto Pacific Street. The distance from HWY 49 to the property
is long enough to accommodate the traffic.

Due to the narrow width of the street, the cars will then need to exit onto HWY 49 at
the northern connection from Pacific Street. This will create a one-way path of travel
for cars associated with the Haunted Forest. Caltrans has reviewed the proposed
circulation plan and has approved it with a right turn onto HWY 49 when exiting,
thereby requiring vehicles to use the roundabout for safety.

Parking will occur on site both in the existing parking area and in the area surrounding
the existing building. On-site attendants will assist cars with parking. No permanent
structures, parking lines, paving, or similar items are proposed as a part of this
project.

The following two figures show the circulation plan with HWY 49 and Pacific Street
and on-site circulation.



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1

9/18/2025

Figure 2: Circulation Plan

Right Turn Only
Exit onto HWY 49

"~ Empire St

Entrance from
HWY 49

“ - .

il Site Entrance
AmadorVintners N, " Haunted Forest CA
Associationiae . o N

!

Pacific st

o B VECHIOne Gyl
owLn_g‘FilymOLitthh..._q

- ey

N
—at .




PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1
9/18/2025

Figure 3: On-site Circulation Plan

Staff has included Condition of Approval No. 1 which requires the operator to
incorporate the following to ensure that the use will not significantly impact traffic on
Pacific Street and the highway.

e The operator shall inform all patrons when ordering their ticket of the approved
path of travel when driving to the site.

e Information on entering and exiting the site shall also be provided on the
operators website.

e The entrance into the project site shall be marked with signage.

¢ An employee shall be stationed at the exit point of the site directing vehicles
to the northern connection at HWY 49.



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1
9/18/2025

e A ™No Entry” sign shall be placed at the site’s exit point.

e A sign notifying patrons of the entrance point from HWY 49 shall be placed on
the City’s right-of-way identifying the proper path of travel for vehicles. The
sign shall be placed in this area 30 minutes prior to opening and removed
following the last entrance of the day.

¢ A sign notifying patrons that they may only make a right turn out of Pacific
Street onto HWY 49 shall be placed on the City’s right-of-way 30 minutes prior
to opening and removed following the last entrance of the day.

e An employee shall be located at the project entrance to direct vehicles into the
site.

e If at any point during the Temporary Use Permit the City determines that
additional measures are required in order to reduce traffic impacts, the
operator shall immediately incorporate the measures into their operations.

Dust Control

The property has been used for industrial and mining uses for several years. A
Phase 1 Environmental Assessment (ESA) was conducted to review the ground to
determine if there is the potential for negative impacts to the public related to
ground disturbance (walking, driving, etc.).

The Phase 1 ESA determined that the project would not result in negative impacts
with implementation of the dust control measures identified in the ESA. These
measures are included in the Applicant’s written statement as well as in the project
conditions of approval (COA No. 14).

Emergency Response Plan

The Applicants have prepared an Emergency Response Plan with help from the
Amador County Fire Prevention Officer. The Fire Prevention Officer has reviewed
and approved the emergency response plan (Attachment 10).

Liability

The City is not liable for the use in granting this permit. The operator is responsible
for all liability. However, to protect the City, Condition of Approval No. 3 (a
standard condition) requires indemnification of the City and Condition of Approval
No. 4 (a standard condition for Temporary Use Permits) requires the operator to
obtain insurance and name the City as an additional policy holder to further protect
the City.



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1
9/18/2025

Public Comment

Mailed notices to all property owners and occupants within 300 feet of the project
site were notified earlier than the required ten (10) days to allow residents to reach
out to the City to discuss the project or submit concerns. The City has received two
comments from the public (Attachment 5) at the time of publishing.

Departmental Review

All relevant City departments (Public Works, Engineering, Fire, Police, Building) have
reviewed the application. No objections were raised.

CONCLUSION

The proposed use is temporary. The use will provide revenue for the City as well as
entertainment for residents and the surrounding area. The site is over 30 acres in
size and well suited to host this event. Adequate parking will be provided. Conditions
of approval have been included to reduce impacts to the surrounding area with
respect to noise, trash, circulation, and safety.

Approval of The Haunted Forest is for a specific period of time (until November 1,
2025). Should the property owner wish to operate in the future, a new Temporary
Use Permit will be required, and Staff would bring the permit to the Planning
Commission for review again.

CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (CEQA)

The proposed project is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)
due to Section 15304, Class 4, Minor Alterations to Land. The Haunted Forest is
temporary, includes no permanent structures or mass grading and conditions have
been included in the project to ensure there are no permanent impacts. Subsection
e exempts “minor temporary use of land having negligible or no permanent effects
on the environment, including carnivals, sales of Christmas trees, etc.”

PLANNING COMMISSION OPTIONS

The Planning Commission has several options, which are listed below:

1. Adopt a Resolution approving a Temporary Use Permit, subject to the
conditions included in the draft Resolution.



4.

PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1
9/18/2025

. Adopt the draft Resolutions with modifications to the conditions of approval or

project by the Planning Commission.

. Continue the public hearing to a certain date and direct staff and/or the

applicant to return with additional information, revised plans, or alternative
conditions the Commission believes are necessary to support the findings.

Deny the Temporary Use Permit.

Staff recommends option 1.

ATTACHMENTS

u b WN

Planning Commission Resolution 2025-10 approving a Temporary Use Permit
for The Haunted Forest.

Written Statement received July 17, 2025 and August 29, 2025.

Circulation Plan

Emergency Response Plan

Public Comments



PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2025-10

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF PLYMOUTH
APPROVING A TEMPORARY USE PERMIT (PA 2025-12) TO ALLOW A
TEMPORARY HALLOWEEN ATTRACTION ON A 30 ACRE PARCEL LOCATED AT
9424 PACIFIC STREET (APN 010-150-016)

WHEREAS, the Applicants, Sam and Sherean Maynard, have submitted a
Temporary Use Permit application (PA 2025-12) requesting approval to operate the
Haunted Forest, on a temporary basis, on an existing developed parcel located at 9424
Pacific Street; and

WHEREAS, the existing site was used for many years for industrial uses; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 19.14.020, a Temporary Use Permit is required
for any events which are temporary in nature and the proposed Halloween attraction will
operate on limited days and for less than two months; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Director is charged with reviewing and deciding on
Temporary Use Permits (section 19.14020(C)); and

WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 19.04.140(B) the Planning Director may
transfer decision making authority to the Planning Commission if the Director determines
there are unique circumstances which should be reviewed during a public hearing. In
accordance with that Section, the Planning Director transferred the decision making
authority on this project to the Planning Commission due to the unique nature of the
request and because the project is located on land that is zoned Standard Residential;
and

WHEREAS, on September 18, 2025, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed
public hearing to consider PA 2025-12, at which time all interested persons were given
an opportunity to appear and be heard on the matter; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has reviewed the staff report and
supporting documents, including the Applicant’s project description, proposed floor plans,
and analysis of potential impacts, and has determined that the project, as conditioned,
will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds the project exempt from the California
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) due to Section 15304, Class 4 (subsection e), Minor
Alterations to Land, because the use is temporary and will have no permanent effects on
the property; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds that all required Temporary Use
Permit findings can be made in support of the project, including that the use is consistent
with the General Plan, consistent with the zoning and development standards, suitable



for the site, compatible with the surrounding area, and not detrimental to the public health,
safety, or welfare based on the following findings:

A.

C.

The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use will not, under the
circumstances of the particular case, be detrimental to the health safety, or general
welfare of persons residing or working in the neighborhood of the proposed use
because:

1. The proposed use is temporary and will operate on select days through the
end of October. No permanent improvements or structures are proposed
as part of the project.

2. Conditions of Approval have been included which regulate noise, clean-up
of the site and surrounding area.

3. The project includes an Emergency Response Plan which has been
reviewed and approved by the Fire Prevention Officer, to ensure adequate
preparedness in the event of an emergency.

4, Caltrans has reviewed the proposed circulation plan.

5. The use will require a one-way path of travel for entering and exiting the
site on Pacific Street. Conditions of approval have been included to ensure
this requirement is followed.

The use, as described, will not be detrimental or injurious to property and
improvements in the neighborhood or to the general welfare of the City because:

1. The proposed Haunted Forest is located on a property that is currently
developed and was used for many years as an industrial property.

2. The use is temporary. Any future operation of this use on the site will require
a new Temporary Use Permit prior to operation.

3. No permanent structures or modifications to the surrounding roadway
network are proposed.

Approved measures for the removal of the use and site restoration have been
required to ensure that no change to the site would limit the range of possible future
land uses otherwise allowed by this Zoning Code because:

1. Conditions of approval have been included requiring clean-up of the site
and restoration.



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Planning Commission of the City

of Plymouth that it hereby approves Temporary Use Permit PA 2025-12, subject to the
following conditions of approval.

-_—

6.

Conditions of Approval
PA 2025-12

. Approval. This approval is for a Temporary Use Permit for the Haunted Forest located

at 9424 Pacific Street. This approval allows The Haunted Forest to operate
Wednesday through Saturday from September through the end of October 2025. The
use shall conform to the written statement and plans dated July 17 and August 29,
2025. No modifications shall be made except with written permission by the Planning
Director.

Hours of Operation. Hours of operation for the Haunted Forest are Wednesdays and
Thursdays from 9AM until 10 PM. Fridays and Saturdays from 9AM until Midnight with
patrons limited to 30 patrons per time slot from 10 PM until Midnight.

Expiration. This Temporary Use Permit shall expire on November 1, 2025.

Indemnification. The Permittee/Property Owner shall defend, indemnify, and hold
harmless the City of Plymouth, its officers, agents, and employees from any claim,
action, or proceeding against the City or its agents, officers, or employees to attack,
set aside, void, or annul this Conditional Use Permit approval, or related
environmental review, provided that the City promptly notifies the Permittee of any
such claim and fully cooperates in the defense of the City. The Permittee shall
reimburse the City for any court costs and attorney’s fees that the City may be required
to pay as a result of any such legal challenge, but the Permittee shall have the right
to choose counsel to defend such action (subject to City’s approval of the counsel) at
Permittee’s expense. The City may, at its sole discretion, participate in the defense of
any such action, but such participation shall not relieve the Permittee of its obligations
under this condition. This indemnification shall survive the expiration or revocation of
the permit.

Insurance. The operator shall hold insurance in the amount of one million dollars and
shall name the City as an additional policy holder. Proof of insurance shall be
submitted to the Planning Director prior to the opening of the attraction. The insurance
shall cover the operator/property owner and the City until November 1, 2025.

Appeal of Commission Decision. The Planning Commission’s decision shall become
effective 10 days after the date of this Resolution unless an appeal is filed within that
10-day period to the City Council, in accordance with PMC Chapter [19.04.160 or
applicable]. If an appeal is filed, this CUP shall not become effective until the appeal
is resolved, and a final decision is made by the City Council.



7. Noise Control: The operator shall conduct the business in a manner that minimizes
noise impacts to surrounding properties. The operator shall comply with the City of
Plymouth’s Noise regulations (e.g., Municipal Code and General Plan Noise Element
standards). Specific noise-control requirements include:

a. Noise Limit. No amplified sound shall be audible 50 feet from the location of
said sound from the hours of 9:00 PM until 8:00 AM. Noise shall be controlled
at all other times of day so that noise does not extend beyond the property line.

b. Patrons. The operator shall strictly enforce noise after 9:00 PM. The operator
shall employ personnel to ensure patrons do not loiter in the parking areas or
the public right-of-way to ensure noise in the surrounding area is minimal.

c. Noise Complaints: In the event that verified noise complaints are received by
the City, the Planning Director may require the Permittee to implement further
noise mitigation, and/or may refer the permit back to the Planning Commission
for possible amendment or revocation if noise issues are not resolved.

8. Public Peace and Order. The operator shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that
patrons do not disturb the peace or create safety hazards in the vicinity. The
Operator’s staff shall routinely monitor the property and the surrounding neighborhood
to prevent loitering, loud conduct, or other nuisance behavior. If issues arise with
loitering or nuisance outside, the Operator shall work with the Plymouth Police
(Amador County Sheriff) to resolve them, which may include hiring additional security
personnel.

9. Trash and Waste Management. The Operator shall maintain the premises in a clean
and sanitary condition. Sufficient trash and recycling receptacles shall be provided to
serve the site, and the Operators shall engage the City’s waste provider for trash pick-
up. The Operator shall regularly check the property frontage and beyond and shall
remove all waste from the public right-of-way.

10.Safety and Security. The Operator shall employe security personnel to ensure safety
of patrons and vehicles. The Operator shall provide all measures noted in their written
statement and shall follow the approved Emergency Response Plan. Additionally, the
Operator shall train all employees on the Emergency Response Plan.

11.Circulation. Traffic (including employees and patrons) shall enter the site from the
southern connection of HWY 49/Pacific Street and exit at the norther connection of
HWY 49/Pacific Street. When leaving, all vehicles shall make a right turn only at HWY
49. In order to ensure safe circulation, the operators shall do all of the following:

e The operator shall inform all patrons when ordering their ticket of the approved
path of travel when driving to the site.



e Information on entering and exiting the site shall also be provided on the operators
website.

e The entrance into the project site shall be marked with signage.

e A “No Entry” sign shall be placed at the site’s exit point.

¢ An employee shall be stationed at the exit point of the site directing vehicles to the
northern connection at HWY 49.

¢ A sign notifying patrons of the entrance point from HWY 49 shall be placed on the
City’s right-of-way identifying the proper path of travel for vehicles. The sign shall
be placed in this area 30 minutes prior to opening and removed following the last
entrance of the day.

¢ A sign notifying patrons that they may only make a right turn out of Pacific Street
onto HWY 49 shall be placed on the City’s right-of-way 30 minutes prior to opening
and removed following the last entrance of the day.

¢ An employee shall be located at the project entrance to direct vehicles into the site.

e If atany point during the Temporary Use Permit the City determines that additional
measures are required in order to reduce traffic impacts, the operator shall
immediately incorporate the measures into their operations.

12.Food Trucks. All food trucks shall have a City of Plymouth Business License and shall
have a permit from the Amador County Health Department. The operators of The
Haunted Forest shall ensure that any food truck or other vendor operating on the site
has a copy of a valid Business License from the City.

13.Grading. If any grading activities are to be performed, a grading plan shall be prepared
by a licensed engineer for review and approval by the City Engineer prior to any
commencement of grading activities. The grading plan shall show all grading activities
and compliance with the Dust Control condition of approval (below).

14.Dust Control Plan. The Applicant shall employ the following measures during this
Temporary Use Permit period:

a. Limit speeds to 5 mph on all dirt and gravel roads. The operator shall install
signage on all dirt roads and in the parking lot advising the public that the speed
limit is 5 mph. The operator shall also employ a security person or other
employee to monitor speed in these areas.

b. Gravel shall be installed on all high traffic areas (to the satisfaction of the City
Engineer).

c. The operator shall water all roads and trails and other areas that may come in
contact prior to and during the event to limit dust.

d. The exit area/exit onto the public right-of-way shall be regularly swept and
cleaned of all dirt, dust, gravel and debris.

15.Site Clean-up. After the expiration of the Temporary Use Permit, the site and
surrounding public-right-of-way shall be cleaned of all materials, signs, cones, flags,
sets, trash, and all other materials associated with the use and the area shall be
returned to its normal state.



16.Accessory Structures or Storage Units. Any storage units or accessory structures
designed to hold goods or materials shall require approval of a separate permit from
the Planning and/or Building Department.

17.ADA. The site shall provide accessibility as required by the American with Disabilities
Act. The operator shall prepare a plan showing ADA accessibility for the Building
Official for review and approval prior to operations. If necessary, the operator shall
also apply for a building permit.

18.Future Operations. Any temporary use or other permanent use beyond this approval
will require prior approval by the City. Should the applicant wish to operate The
Haunted Forest in 2026, the operator shall apply for a new Temporary Use Permit no
later than April 2026.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Plymouth on
this 18" day of September 2025, by the following vote:
AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:

Michael Sullivan, Chairman

ATTEST:

Dana Knight, Planning Clerk



Sam & Sherean Maynard
Haunted Forest, LLC

July 10, 2025

Erica Fraser
City of Plymouth Planning Department
9426 Main Street, Plymouth, CA 95669

Subject: Conditional Use Permit Application - Seasonal Fall Festive Event at 9424 Pacific Street

Dear Erica,

Thank you again for meeting with us earlier this year and for your thoughtful guidance as we prepared this
application. We're pleased to formally submit our Conditional Use Permit request for a seasonal fall
attraction to be held on our newly acquired property at 9424 Pacific Street, formerly part of the historic
Plymouth Consolidated (Empire) Mine.

Our family has successfully operated The Haunted Forest, LLC for eight nonconsecutive seasons in Winters
and Dixon, and we're excited to bring this festive tradition to Plymouth. Our goal is to offer a high-quality,
family-friendly experience that celebrates the fall season, draws positive attention to the city, and provides
a meaningful economic boost to local businesses.

The application includes a detailed project narrative, site map, and operational plan outlining the scope of
the event, including trail design, food service, staffing, public safety measures, and two proposed traffic
flow options. Also included is the completed Phase I Environmental Site Assessment, which concludes there
are no recognized environmental concerns and that “no further investigation is warranted.” (pg. 8/498)

We're confident this project can become a seasonal highlight for the Plymouth community and look
forward to collaborating with the City to ensure all standards and requirements are met. If helpful, we'd be
glad to meet in person with you or members of the Planning Commission to answer questions or provide
additional context.

Please don’t hesitate to reach out if any questions arise during your review.

Sam &'Sherean Maynard
Haunted Forest, LLC

Warm regards,



Conditional Use Permit Application

Seasonal Fall Festive Attraction
Empire Mine Property
9424 Pacific Street, Plymouth, CA 95669

About Us

We are a small, family-owned business that has successfully operated The Haunted Forest, LLC, a
seasonal Halloween attraction, for eight nonconsecutive seasons. Originally based in Winters,
California, we recently acquired the historic Plymouth Consolidated (Empire) Mine property,
allowing us to relocate our event to this exciting and scenic location permanently.

Our vision is to continue delivering an unforgettable, high-quality Halloween experience that offers
exceptional value to our guests and serves as a source of pride and benefit to the City of Plymouth.
In our previous locations, the Haunted Forest became a seasonal highlight for the entire community.
Local wineries and restaurants consistently reported October as their highest-revenue month of the
year, directly attributing the increase in business to the guests attending our event.

We are excited to bring that same positive impact to Plymouth—boosting local tourism, supporting
small businesses, and providing the community with a fun and unique attraction they can enjoy year
after year.

Project Overview

We propose to host an annual Seasonal Halloween Attraction on the property during October,
offering a unique and festive experience for the community. The event features two distinct
components:

1. Haunted Trail Walk
A thrilling 30- to 40-minute guided walk through a specially designed trail with various
immersive sets and scenes that create a spooky yet family-friendly atmosphere. The trail is
designed to delight guests while maintaining a safe and respectful environment.

2. Enchanted Trail Walk (for Children and Parents)
Using the same trail as the Haunted Walk, the Enchanted Trail takes place during daylight
hours in the late afternoon and early evening. This experience is not scary but instead fairy-
tale themed, fun, festive, and designed to be enjoyed by guests of all ages. It offers a
magical, light-hearted atmosphere perfect for families with young children or anyone
seeking a non-scary fall celebration.



Operational Details

Event Duration: Annually, from the last week of September through November 2nd.
Hours of Operation:

o Evenings (Haunted Trail): 7 PM — Midnight.

o Enchanted Trail (Daytime Activities): 9 AM — 7 PM.
Closed Days: Typically closed Sunday, Monday, and Tuesday.
Ticketing: Guests purchase tickets in advance and are assigned a specific time slot, ensuring
a steady flow of arrivals, minimizing crowding, and enhancing the overall experience.
Ticketing and check-in are managed at the on-site ticket station.

Food, Seating & Restroom Facilities

To enhance the guest experience and provide essential amenities, the event will include the
following:

Food Trucks: Two to three food trucks will be on-site, offering a variety of food, drinks,
and treats for guests to enjoy throughout the event.

Seating Area: The existing Woodman Truss shade structure will serve as a designated
eating area, outfitted with picnic tables and informal seating.

Restrooms: The existing restroom facility on-site will be available for public use.
Additional portable restrooms will be brought in as needed.

Site Map Reference: The attached site map shows the planned locations for food trucks,
seating, and restroom facilities.

Site Map

This application includes a detailed site map outlining the entire property boundaries and
highlighting the primary location of the seasonal event. Key features include:

Entrance and Traffic Flow:
Two traffic flow options are proposed:

Preferred Plan (Option A):

Guests will enter and exit the property from the north side, using the existing gated entrance
located near the roundabout on Highway 49, just south of the PG&E facility. This road
already exists and is located entirely on our private land. Minor improvements will be made
to the gate and bollards before the event's commencement.

Guests will park along the existing private road (see site map) and then enjoy a tractor-
pulled hayride to the main public event area, located near the Woodman Truss Building on
Pacific Street.



This plan reduces traffic along Pacific Street, separates guest parking from pedestrian areas,
and minimizes the visibility of vehicle headlights in the festive zone.

Alternative Plan (Option B):
Guests will enter from Pacific Street and park near the Woodman Truss Building area. This
portion of the property has ample space to accommodate event parking as needed.

Parking Management:
In both scenarios, trained parking attendants will be on-site to direct traffic and manage
vehicle flow.

Facilities Utilization:
o Woodman Truss Plant Parking Lot & Grounds: Used for guest gathering, food
trucks, seating, and event staging.
o Restrooms: Existing facilities will be used. Portable restrooms will be added as
needed.
Emergency Access: The site map identifies clear access routes for emergency vehicles to
ensure efficient response in case of an incident.

Employees & Security

The Haunted Forest typically requires 30 to 40 part-time seasonal staff members per night.
These team members fill a variety of roles, including:

Themed actors and actresses
Parking attendants
Ticketing staff
Maintenance personnel
Security and crowd control
Managers and supervisors

The business is co-owned and actively operated by Sam and Sherean Maynard, along with their

four adult children and their spouses, who make up the senior leadership and operations team. This
family-led structure provides consistency, accountability, and a high standard of quality and safety
in every aspect of the event.

Most staff are hired locally from the community and receive hands-on training from senior team
members. Training encompasses both specific role duties and emergency preparedness protocols to
ensure a safe experience for both guests and staff.

Security Personnel are stationed at key locations throughout the event, including:

Guest parking areas
Ticketing and check-in
Food and seating zones



o Inside the walking trail and around public gathering spaces

Set Design & Scene Description

All sets and scenes used in the Haunted Forest trail are temporary and do not involve any
permanent structures.

Guests will experience a variety of creative and immersive scenes during the 30- to 40-minute walk.
These sets are constructed using lightweight, movable materials such as fabric, wood, and themed
props. Each scene is thoughtfully placed along the trail to create atmosphere while maintaining
guest safety and ease of movement.

Examples of typical scenes guests may encounter include:

e Army tents arranged to form a haunted encampment

e 0Old wooden fencing used to guide guests and shape environments

e A cemetery scene featuring artificial headstones and decorative elements

e Spider webs, lighting effects, and visual props for ambiance

e A maze created with repurposed doors and hay bales

e A swamp scene built around a greenhouse frame with spider webs and burlap
e A miner’s camp using vintage-style Boy Scout tents

All elements are designed to be temporary, modular, and consistent with the overall character of a
seasonal, outdoor event.

Environmental Site Assessment

A Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) was conducted for the property and is included
with the electronic submittal of this application. The complete report exceeds 400 pages, with the
Executive Summary (comprising the first 20 pages) providing a clear and concise overview of the
findings.

A qualified geologist conducted the assessment in accordance with ASTM standards. Based on the
site visit, historical records review, and environmental database research, the report did not identify
any recognized environmental conditions (RECs), controlled recognized environmental
conditions (CREC:S), or historic recognized environmental conditions (HRECs) associated with
the property.

The final conclusion of the report states:
“No Further Investigation is Warranted.”

(End of Document)



0002T N

000ET N

000%¥T N

m m m
= ) )
o o o
o o o
o o o
' 13 ,
INI "ONIddVIW IVId3V NVIIJINWY A4
89'€901
9102-82-4 NMOT4 § voor
T I 0@0/ HSNag ! (W(((((\(.Idrmmoﬁ lC < //Cl\ \J
I'g .2 .00 = ,1 31¥3S Z S3zdl 3SNIa o < ST P~ N - ~ nag RS.& S 7
=il 88) rrr e Hshag NN ‘ / HSDE
| — Y J
SITLYIJ0YD IITdWI HLNOWA T = : 5 S N Y ke
HSN3E/ /o 3SN3a mwzua\ > . N3a
I~ / @, /l N l\ =
_ dS ) - MRl
(b\ N {\(( N\ \l\l
— S333L — <(<( ol ol g s HSN¥E 3SN3a
XN 3SN3 S ) i Y . - S3FL N\ \
HSNAE ) EN \
HSNAE/ Y 7 % 3SN3a ’ - HSN¥g 3SN3a \
3SN3 P HSNYd 2. HSNYg
em “ 3SN3d 3SNAd 0901
S S HSNYE HSNAA
- ~
(((r ) 3SN3a 3SN3a
H$NE AsN3a HSAE I oo “C HSNYg > HenaE st v A
1€1601 3SN3a 5 3L HSNYE S 3SN3a CEANA 5
-
0801 SINL N 33W3a IgNIg “ A 0801 a ER T
L — . Nzt /\/k(f\ #_
= _ 7 rrr \_, - __ HSNAE 3SN3a HSN
2. / 234} SNV o r Ao 3SN3a HSNag HSN¥E 3ISN3T T asnaa
A | .Im: A 7 3SN Sor _ Hsnag rn O —4 ﬂ SN HSPY _ 3SN3a
3gNda
2 ash3a 7 3SN3a p \
% SN _ S3L - wﬂnp
Naa a 3SN3 HSNNE S3IRYL 3ISN3Q i s33pL )
G HSNag - ¢ . HdSY \ \
, HS\YE ( \
3SN SAOAYHS M - D
EN el HSNAE ‘ (-]
/\ \ S3331 3SN A 2
: ¢ \ . NS EN e /s 5,
d1
e e (3
D) P ASNJd — nag HSNJg ) $ . T
N1 HSNYE Asnad renee EN El ! ) X a ¥10—0G1—-010
o 3SN3a 2 ISN3C /) ; & HSNad
2 HSNYE 3SN3T o S3 SNad % , s331 3N | 3ISN3a
3L / S ! 3 s
%o, 3sK3 n 3 w
TAYAINIA & \ HS q . -
il O 2, ISN3C
ashaa NEERTE ) (
& O 3SN3a 3SN3d <
HSNaE ~ ov S0
3SN3a -~ o2l dady) A
a {\(\\;\)\)\} < 30 \ \/) ASN3d 181
10V g N Y ((( SI3ML
S333l S333L\3ISN3a Q
3sN 3 3SN3a
SN S33Y1 :
3SN3a N
m. 7 AOU = q Y
$ nsnua %o, S, Hsng S33L 38 SN ©
3SN3a
3SN3C HSNAE S33L
HSNY AU =
3SN3a Jenad HSQad S3331L usnug® & S 3¥L 3ISNIQ / |
3SN3a (
! | —
s33y1 — ( uw_om_m,mo
QAYAINI 3sSN3 $33 N3a S3331 3SN3a S S <~T J
A | O SN3a N 7 _
2 \ Cﬁ Q
: %
S3331
qﬂ 33341 3SNIa s3m)\ 52 ) ), asnag ) =
¢ SNy O SARL o a S3331 3SN3A s33f 3sNaa Iw\mﬂm) 0! S33gl 3N
3SN3a / ~
¢ - & HSNYg X
( 3JSNIa - N S3RIL §SN3a SI9YL 3ISN3A
M oS S3AL HSNag ! . E ‘ _@ A\ Q
‘ 3SN3a $33 3ISN3 I- TS Il (Hsnag W\/
( HRNag asNga ; _ Muuw: S33¥1 3$N3a
( 080, N HSNY 3 SN3a
HSNAE 3sN ) — o
1 $333L .
3a HSNYg o A\ 3SN3a < 39va0LS
S33AL 7T Q - Asnaa \ Y oLny
3SN3a 5 C \ ~34 . D ;
p NY
S\3dL/3SN3a S333L 3sNda S33d1 3SNIa 4 / _ \ HSNAE .
\ 333) BSNaa s o \
) (S (
«Q\ SIANL Ph
3 .
HSNYE 3a SINL
$333L 3SN3C “ ISNA
C S3331 3SN3a
HSNaE Q “ 3ISN3C HSN
’ 3¥1/3SN3a N C
2 S3341 ASN3 “C $3331( 3sN g
C HSNNE A NOI
O . L $ 3331 3sfiaa SEEE &
Lo S HSN 4 o
el S3IL $3331 ,, ISNICS. > /
S 3ISN3a 2 S | e < N
$33¥L 3ISN3a r
‘ 20 L RS oo DO 100—¢1L1—010
S333L N S33Y S\ ) C | HSNyd v
=i S333L I\3 A Sshaa
3SN3 ISN SIAL J \ S3331 3SN3A /7
s33 N3a 3spl3a 3SN3a o~ o~
. >, x JJ 21
0, - J/v A
- = - g - 4 HSNYE ) e
C= AT 5 ENYE S \
Ao SIAL ) == 3 A LCE
J SN3T TN HS g ~N— \ 331 )
§701 ¢ \ 080 N3a \ )
$3331 N8 J ¢ a1 O\ HSn¥g ) 3 g
JL s ) o4 ) @ 4 —— - . rr
S$334L 3SN3a I )\H\J\( y ) G - AN C - ,
R AN , N 10 A o 100—ZL1—01
A e 5 I . = N S3IHL S N \ 2 OL0O
S33AL mmp”cm_‘\hu@/—‘b)& <3 S Y/ e A\ A /
M \ 3 ,
. B =N . :P N / S371d 3 ) N 0907 19'1S01
s ) NJ Ia AR 4 HSNJE ) P/ €004
/. S33L HSNAE  J $371d HSRYE 3L 3SN3a HsN¥g RN
S 3SN3a 5’ A A 1 3sNaa J
) ) (, - ( ~ 7, < \,\.\o v
J R O ) s33aL 2582 yd
¢ 34 -
f (- VAP -
N % R HSQE a
a) S 7 ) %
N %d 0 .W
2 ~ O
s33¥L  \2 s3I 3ISNIC 3SN3d HSNY - o 4 HSMRE
3SN3d SN 2 3ASN3a
3IsNag 0 o 2 %
2 " 2
R S33 % XY W
3SN3
= 3 , N ERTI
™M
) S AWM i | ¥00—0Z1—010
P ~ snag | AT M /
ER SN3Q 3 mn ; S3FAL ~
~
HSNad M S333L A ( NI ~
( 3ISN3a % nad H ) )
( O o 3SN3a )
%, C N I~ HSNJg 1
601601 o6® 333l (O ~C «® S 3ISN3a ”,
9004 Q SN3a 0 < n ] (¢ ‘
-3 ¢ nag N / HSNag HsHxg |
3
( N WDW . 25 \\\ SN3 E| 4 / v 33y 14
p SN L
HSN \ .
o AN M HSNag N ERD "
m
\ ; | ¢ N e A EEL a¥N3a v
Y\ O ”~ 3SN3d & o 331 3SN3C ot
DY, (13 Nt 7 & /38Nd0 ® 2 ,
- \;ﬁ 3 - HS q Al f n\vr\ e
5 .J)\} ‘. (o) 3 a JSN3a Vi \.\) ~
A S3AL - / P2 HSNYg L 38 N\ ®
31 3SN3a 3SN3 2 -y,
SN3a HSNYg & I
° o J
JSN3a k( 3391 S NQ 33 3 3 oa\ A i
o g SN >~
HSNad X SN3C \ ¢ SNC 7 (sfug N\ > O
» 4 ) —_— )
7N /N HS 33y3d 3391 ¢ ) H
o 4 — % ) HSNYd S
< ( S 2 ) . SJ3J31 JoNad a)| & L acf
N : . D \
- HSNYd ) snad 2 7
Q — Snad 3ISN3a HSNYE ./~ Osor NIa NOIS #6001
Q SN3T > S
) o HW
) HSNAE 3SN3a OQ Q @ S33d1 FAsN3a p e
HsRug 3a ‘
snag o > )
N3a O SNaa o _ J/ & ’
{._. N ( v v
snag 0 £x % ) J ,
HSNad 3SN3T 3sg3a , 2 A ) A
3SN3a S3FL o /
S3331 3SN3a L f ,
HSNYd 3sN / al Q
$33 3SN3a i EN /
3sN3a mw%u A
HSNYE . i & ! 607 3 a o
3SN3a -
HSN SJ39L JONJT /.\ 1 { I
O 3SNpa Npa O (€33 | _
e % N3a 1 3a 3 )
(
O S33L ANIC ) | onug 080T i
S33¥1 3ISN3C - S33)L
) HSNY O ASNEC ) S333L73SNIT q
3snaq O 0 - ISNIT O\
)
HSNg 4 ~ R = N
N S—
3ISN3T (((mU\ _ O o \
$33y1 3sN3a ~J ~ AR .,
wuuwuzwm HSRag JJ 3Is3a 1 ’
- HSNag ISNL O
AR S ENNE S33YL spRIg”
HSNJd 2 3 b
3sn3c§ O HS mmﬁ\l < 3s NIT
@4 N 2) Wuzmb HENag D) Jg NV L
3SN3a 3ISN3a )
\\. / )) 3 331 ) O | snNg w
3 e A ) 3y skaa “— 3
TN C @ S 3
c : /
ENEE r S
e o 0 O S S
3 f\l\z\F/.\ ’
- ~4 0601
O )
Iw mm )\)\/\) O N..J I<1
INDO HSNAE ) L)
3SN3d d A -
c
J
O B
\ g ﬂ\ J
&/ /3SN3a A /] Szl
4 & b HSNYg N3Q
/
ENYE \
)
snag Snag ¥y e
: 3SN3a IsNIa oV D
» P
O ) HS bu
H HSN¥E /= 4 J o
3SN3 ¢
SIF]YL -
3SNAd 2 S 3SN3a g
i v/.\/\k ® /) 3 4
pIapll ’ _ 18407, \\
oo Y A= 9 )L /
S33¥1 3SN3a
J
© =}
2 L
’ m— g
vd
99'%£01
1002/
¥0'9£01 \
m m m 2004
X @ )
o o o
o o o
o o o

4

0002T N

000€ET N

000%¥T N




Response to Notice of Incompleteness
Haunted Forest - Conditional Use Permit (PA 2025-12)

Prepared by: Haunted Forest, LLC (Sherean & Sam Maynard)

Date: August 26, 2025

1. Written Statement — Traffic Information

A revised traffic operations narrative is included in this submittal. [t addresses the
following:

» Ticket Times & Quantities:

- Haunted Forest: Tickets are sold in timed entry slots every 15 minutes from 7:00 PM to
11:00 PM, with approximately 45 guests per time slot.

- Enchanted Forest: Similar timed-entry system during daylight hours.

» Employee Arrival /Departure: Staff arrive approximately 60 minutes before opening and
depart 30 minutes after the final guests exit. Setup, parking, ticketing, and food service roles
arrive earlier than actors.

e Arrival Pattern for Guests: Guests typically arrive 15-30 minutes before their scheduled
entry time, resulting in a smooth, distributed traffic flow.

« Directional Signage: No directional signage will be placed in the public right of way. All
signage will remain on private property.

* Flaggers and Parking Staff: Trained parking attendants will manage vehicle flow at
entrances, parking areas, and guest drop-off points.

« Backup Prevention Measures: Timed entry tickets, internal queuing, and on-site parking
management will prevent vehicle backups onto public streets.

2. Hay Ride

The hayride will be pulled by a standard agricultural tractor using a flatbed trailer with hay
bale seating. No animals are involved. The ride will operate exclusively on private property
along a designated loop. No animals will be housed or used on-site.

3. Full Site Plan
A revised full-site plan is provided with this submittal and includes:



¢ Parcel boundaries clearly identified

e Entrance and exit locations

» Locations of food trucks and waiting area.
» Parking layout with stall count

The plan is based on a satellite image with overlaid annotations for clarity.

4. Dust Control Plan

The Haunted Forest event will operate seasonally and on a limited schedule during the fall
months. Although major grading is not proposed, we are committed to minimizing dust
generation from vehicle and foot traffic, as well as general event activity. The following
measures will be implemented throughout the event duration to ensure effective dust
control, consistent with recommendations in the Phase | Environmental Site Assessment:

» Speed Reduction on Unpaved Surfaces: All vehicles traveling on unpaved roads or parking
areas will be limited to a maximum of 5 mph. Speed limit signage will be posted, and
parking attendants will monitor compliance during operating hours.

« Water Application: Prior to event days—and as needed during operation—dust-prone
areas will be sprayed with water using either a portable water tank or hose-fed system.

« Gravel Surfacing in Key Zones: Gravel will be placed on frequently used unpaved surfaces
to reduce dust emissions.

« Monitoring and Response: Staff will observe dust-prone areas during high-traffic times.
Additional watering or rerouting will occur as needed.

« Low-Traffic Event Schedule: The limited duration and seasonal timing reduce the risk of
significant dust generation.

Implementation Oversight: Sam and Sherean Maynard will oversee implementation. A
dedicated dust control staff member will be assigned during each event.

5. Emergency Response Plan
The Haunted Forest event includes a comprehensive evacuation procedure to ensure guest
and staff safety.

Evacuation Strategy:

« Designated Emergency Exits: Clearly marked exits throughout the trail lead to safe
outdoor gathering zones.



» Staff Roles and Training: All staff receive training on evacuation roles, including guest
communication and zone leadership.

» Public Address & Communication: A PA system and radio network are used to coordinate
and announce evacuations.

» Assembly Zones: Identified near parking and the main gathering area, away from active
scenes.

» Fire Access Routes: Maintained for emergency vehicle access.

Evacuation Triggers include fire, severe weather, injury, or other threats. Leads are
authorized to initiate evacuation.

Coordination with Emergency Services:

» Fire and Police walkthrough scheduled before opening weekend.
» Fire lanes and exits shown on evacuation map.
» Fire inspection will be completed prior to opening.

Map Reference: See attached Evacuation Map.

6. Written Response to Comments

This document serves as our formal response to each item in the Notice of Incompleteness,
fulfilling the City's submittal requirements.

7. Plan Sets

This resubmittal includes one (1) electronic PDF and three (3) hardcopies of the full revised
plan set and supporting documentation.

Additional Notes on City Comments

Access — Caltrans Comments

We are actively working with Caltrans regarding their request for a Transportation Impact
Study (TIS). We will coordinate with the City as this progresses and update the site plan if
access changes are required.

Grading
No grading is currently planned. If grading is necessary, we will submit a plan in compliance
with City engineering and dust control requirements.



Fire & ADA Access
We understand additional comments may be issued upon final site review. We are prepared
to comply with all applicable fire and accessibility standards.

Fire Inspection
We agree to schedule and complete a Fire Inspection prior to public opening of the event.



SITE PLAN
HAUNTED FOREST, OCT. 2025
9424 PACIFIC STREET

I EVENT LOGATION-

WAITING AREA:
SEATING & FOOD
Bl TRUCKS







Google Maps

Amador Fire Protection District to 9424 Pacific Street, Plymouth, CA

Drive 0.5 mile, 3 min

Amador Coumy,
¥

Eairgrounds?
" T

b, i LA\
JReutecestal Chioh e,

@Plym&ﬁhz‘ /'I o 5 .
‘,,'._ g 7 \,é?"

Locust St i

g W

PARKING & SAFE
DISPERSAL AREA
——

duig

.

s en

"

{ ALL SEASONS
y %% ACCESS ROADS

g : . W,
Yo .
0 (10 WEEL S

K 7% 3 3
/ 'AMad oEVintnens
¥ g A s PGy waes By
. Al e i ASSOCTaNO I
Cafe atithe Park, . Agnitis oy
a S/ fanacific St__
¢ .. [ g I

& - ol 4
" Mq:.:hl()g% L g

T i

{ LOCATION

5

Imagery ©2025 Airbus, Imagery ©2025 Airbus, Maxar Technologies, Map data 2025 200 ft

EMERGENCY RESPONCE MAP
HAUNTED FOREST, OCT. 2025
9424 PACIFIC STREET




From: Elizabeth Chapin-Pinotti

To: Erica Fraser
Subject: Proposed Haunted California 22 Day Event on Pacific Street
Date: Sunday, September 7, 2025 7:41:19 AM

Warning: Unusual sender [

You don't usually receive emails from this address. Make sure you trust this sender before
taking any actions.

Hello,

We are residents and business owners in Plymouth, and we are writing as the owners of
property directly adjacent to the site of the proposed Haunted Forest attraction on Pacific
Street in an area zoned standard residential — urging you to deny the use permit.

My family operates a legally permitted vacation rental where we deliberately cap occupancy
to preserve the quiet, restorative environment our guests seek. People come to our
vacation rental to relax, enjoy peace, and experience the safe, rural character of our
community. The proposed haunted forest threatens all of this and poses extreme risks to
public safety and to our neighborhood.

Most importantly, residents of Plymouth will be subjected to 21 evenings and nights of
nonstop noise, traffic, and general nuisance from an event that is often banned or shut
down in towns and cities across the country. This is not a one-night event we are being
asked to endure, but a marathon—an entire month where the solitude of small-town living is
taken away. We do not live in Plymouth to be subjected to the aforementioned traffic,
noise, or nuisance that accompanies such events.

Crime and Public Safety Concerns: Seasonal haunted attractions are high-risk
entertainment. Research shows that violent crime is approximately 50% higher surrounding
such venues than for other events, and property crime claims are 17-24%. Communities
across the country have seen assaults, vandalism, and even shootings linked to haunted
attractions. Statistics according to Travelers Insurance. Resources cited below. This type of
venue is often shut down due to disturbance.

For a town of about 1,000 residents, with very limited police and fire resources, these risks
are magnified. The haunted forest plans to admit groups every 20 minutes from 6:00 p.m.
until 10 p.m.—a steady, nonstop flow of vehicles and visitors into a location accessed only
by a narrow, potholed road. This will create congestion, block emergency access, and
generate safety hazards for pedestrians, neighbors, and first responders. The road is barely
passible by two cars where there is no traffic. The Haunted Forest would generate a
constant stream of traffic along a dangerously narrow and deteriorated road from 5 p.m.
until well after 10 p.m., creating safety hazards, disrupting the peace, and wreaking havoc
on our small neighborhood.

Extreme Fire Hazard: The organizers have advertised plans to light the forest with candles
—despite this being fire season in California. This is an extreme and unacceptable fire risk.
One candle tipped into dry brush could ignite a catastrophic wildfire, endangering lives and
property. This puts our entire town at risk. Additionally, God forbid someone lights a
cigarette—which is not outside the realm of possibility. One of my greatest fears is fire, and
it is not inconceivable—in fact, it has been proven time and again—that a tiny accident can
lead to catastrophic results: the Palisades Fire, the Butte Fire, the Candor Fire—the list
goes on.

Noise, Dust, and Ordinance Violations: The proposed event is scheduled to continue



until 10 p.m., in direct violation of our city’s noise ordinance, which begins at 9:00 p.m. This
means our neighborhood and our Airbnb guests will be subjected to loud disturbances
every 20 minutes late into the night.

Equally troubling, the designated parking lot is dirt and gravel, located in the middle of a
residential neighborhood. The steady arrival and departure of cars will generate significant
dust, headlights shining into windows, and noise from engines and voices. This will
drastically reduce the quality of life for us, our neighbors and for the paying guests who
come here specifically for a peaceful retreat.

Community Impact and Reputation: Our small town is known for its quiet, safe
environment. Introducing a haunted forest with fire hazards, traffic bottlenecks, dust, noise,
and late-night disturbances undermines our community’s reputation and livability. If even
one serious incident occurs—as national trends strongly suggest is likely—the long-term
damage will far outweigh any short-term entertainment value.

Request to the Commission: Given these clear and serious dangers, we respectfully
request that the Planning Commission deny the proposal for the haunted forest attraction.
At minimum, no event involving open flames in a forest, continuous late-night traffic on
unsafe roads, dirt and gravel parking next to residences, or operation past the 9:00 p.m.
noise ordinance should be approved under any circumstances. Again, this is a residential
neighborhood being asked to endure over 20 days of significant disruption.

Our community does not have the infrastructure or resources to absorb the risks posed by
this attraction. Please protect the safety of our residents, the well-being of our visitors, and
the character of our town by rejecting this proposal.

Comparable ‘haunted forest’ and outdoor haunt operations in other towns have

faced sustained neighbor complaints—specifically noise, lights, traffic, and safety—that
prompted zoning boards to deny/withdraw permits. In addition, approving this event would
expose the City of Plymouth to significant liability. Haunted forest operations across the
country have been the subject of lawsuits stemming from accidents, injuries, and code
violations. If even one visitor or neighbor were harmed due to traffic congestion, fire
hazards, or unsafe conditions, the City could be named in costly litigation for permitting the
event. Our town is already limited in financial and legal resources, and we cannot afford to
take on new risks or the burden of defending lawsuits that could have been prevented. The
Planning Commission has a duty to safeguard the City from avoidable liability, and allowing
this event would do the opposite.

We understand and support businesses in our town—indeed, we welcome them; however,
not ones that do not put the safety and serenity of our town and its residents first and not
ones such as this that are situated in a quiet residentially zoned neighborhood.

Thank you for your time and your commitment to safeguarding our community.

Sincerely,
Steve and Elizabeth Pinotti

CC under separate email: Planning Commissioners, City Planner, City Council, City Manager.

ABC57 News. “House of Horrors Closes Doors after County Concerns.” ABC57, 29 Oct. 2024,
https://www.abc57.com/news/house-of-horrors-closes-doors-after-county-concerns.

ABC7 New York. “FDNY Shuts Down ‘Death Trap’ Haunted House in Queens.” ABC7NY, 11 Oct. 2024,
https://abc7ny.com/post/fdny-shuts-down-death-trap-haunted-house-called-haunting-hollis-queens/15408941/.
ClickOnDetroit (WDIV Local 4). “Westland Closes Down Panic Haunted Experience.” ClickOnDetroit, 14 Oct. 2018,

https://www.clickondetroit.com/news/2018/10/15/westland-closes-down-panic-haunted-experience/.
“Haunted Forest in Limbo after Board Calls for Study.” Yahoo! News, 30 May 2023,




https://www.yahoo.com/news/haunted-forest-limbo-board-calls-121900207.html.
“The Haunted Forests to Remain Closed as Litigation with Town Continues.” Yahoo! News, 5 July 2024,

https://www.yahoo.com/news/haunted-forests-remain-closed-litigation-121600674.html.
Matter of Haunted Forest, LLC v. Town of Wilson. 2025 NY Slip Op 04361. Appellate Division, Fourth Department,

25 July 2025. Justia Law, https://law justia.com/cases/new-york/appellate-division-fourth-department/2025/500-ca-
24-00599.html.

Matter of Haunted Forest, LLC v. Town of Wilson. 2025 NY Slip Op 04362. Appellate Division, Fourth Department,
25 July 2025. Justia Law, https://law.justia.com/cases/new-york/appellate-division-fourth-department/2025/501-ca-
24-01568.html.

New York State Department of Environmental Conservation. “Town of Wilson Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) —
Haunted Forests LLC (Positive Declaration).” Environmental Notice Bulletin, 19 July 2023,
https://dec.ny.gov/news/environmental-notice-bulletin/2023-07-19/seqr/town-of-wilson-zoning-board-of-appeals-
zba-haunted-forests-lic.

Phillipp, Charlotte. “Death Trap’ Haunted House Shut Down by Fire Department.” People, 11 Oct. 2024,

https://people.com/death-trap-haunted-house-shut-down-by-fire-department-8727495.
Sherburne County Planning Advisory Commission. “Meeting Minutes, 19 Sept. 2024.” Sherburne County, 19 Sept.

2024, https://www.co.sherburne.mn.us/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Minutes/_09192024-569. PDF.

WPDE ABC15 News. “Request from Horry Co. to Dismantle Carolina Forest Haunted House Isn’t Scaring
Homeowner.” WPDE, 25 Oct. 2023, https://wpde.com/news/local/horry-county-code-enforcement-request-to-
dismantle-carolina-forest-neighborhood-oakbury-haunted-house-cease-desist-notifications-violations-homeowner-

randy-dorenbos-yard-deorations-construction-stopped-halloween-events-south-carolina-october-25-2023.
WMBF News. “Horry County Claims Spooky Staple in Carolina Forest Neighborhood Is ‘Unlawful’.” WMBF, 24 Oct.

2023, https://www.wmbfnews.com/2023/10/24/horry-county-claims-spooky-staple-carolina-forest-neighborhood-is-
unlawful/.

WSBT 22 (Oudhoff, Nick). “Residential Haunted House Permit Gets Denied in Elkhart.” WSBT, 29 Oct. 2024,

h

complaints-noise.
WXYZ Detroit (Scripps Media). “Westland Haunted Forest Abruptly Shut Down by City, Leaving Customers in the
Dark.” WXYZ, 15 Oct. 2018, https://www.wxyz.com/news/region/wayne-county/westland-haunted-forest-abruptly-
shut-down-by-city-leaving-customers-in-the-dark.



From: Theresa Chapin

To: WCranford@cityofplymouth.org; Don Nunn; Holger Hornisch; Deborah Dill; Wendy Bottomley; Victoria McHenry;
msullivan@cityofplymouth.org; Erica Fraser; wklaproth@cityofplymouth.org

Subject: Opposition to Proposed Haunted Forest

Date: Thursday, September 11, 2025 11:44:44 AM

Warning: Unusual sender_

You don't usually receive emails from this address. Make sure you trust this sender before
taking any actions.

I am writing about the proposed Haunted Forest that wants to operate a full-scale amusement in a
residential neighborhood on residentially zoned property for over 20 days beginning in late
September.

First, it is ill planned and ill conceived. To rush a request and then have a public hearing less than a
week from its scheduled opening is outrageous.

Second, to have 100s if not 1000s of cars run down the very narrow Pacific Street daily is insane.
Pacific Street is narrow and is patched together. It has a blind turn steps before the proposed parking
lot driveway and barely room for two cars to pass. Actually, in some places there isn’t room for two
cars to pass. To ask residents to bare this burden is horrible.

Groups of people every 20 minutes from 6 pm to 10 pm means an endless stream of car lights, noise
and the potential for other disturbances like the crime brought by such attractions.

Is it ADA accessible? Because if it is not, the liability is on you. Privately run outdoor amusement
businesses in California must be handicap accessible under the Americans with Disabilities Act
(ADA) and when they are a public accommodation, serve the general public, or have 15 or more

employees. Plus, alterations to land must comply with the 2010 ADA standards. Not only
will the proposed haunted mansion trails not be handicap accessible, it is unlikely that
the bathrooms are ADA. It is also unlikely that they are permitted. Was a permit pulled
before construction?

On that note, was a grading permit pulled for the work they are doing on their proposed parking area.

If the city of Plymouth wants to take on the liability of such an attraction, more planning should go
into it. The old Emerson property is large. Cars can enter from the highway where there are no
house, and citizens will be less impacted. And hordes of people would be less likely to be running
around residential neighborhoods.

This doesn’t address the crime such nuisances bring, but it solves one problem.

Also, Plymouth should know that if this permit is approved the city is liable in the event of any
injury, fire, or other liability, something we just can’t afford.

Please do not allow this burden to be put on the residents of Plymouth. That property is designated
as residential for a reason. The city is under new leadership. I hope this time it acts to benefit the



residents who live within its boundaries.

Thank you



Erica Fraser

From: STEVEN PINOTT!
Sent: Sunday, September 14, 2025 10:29 AM
To: wcranford @cityofplymouth.org; dnunn@cityofplymouth.org;

hhornisch@cityofplymouth.org; DDill@cityofplymouth.org;
WBottomley@cityofplymouth.org; vmchenry@cityofplymouth.org; Erica Fraser;
mikkelsen@cityofplymouth.org; msullivan@cityofplymouth.org;
CBegbie@cityofplymouth.org

Subject: Opposition to Proposed Haunted Haunted Forest Attraction on Residentially Zoned
Land

Warning: Unusual sender [

You don't usually receive emails from this address. Make sure you trust this sender before taking any actions.

My wife wrote about the safety and logistical hazards of the proposed Haunted Forest attraction. | am
writing from a personal point of view. Specifically, choosing to allow the Haunted Forest to operate
on residentially zoned land—land that was purchased as residentially zoned—is choosing that
business over an established business that is allowable in a residential area: our vacation rental.
This business contributes to our community in many, including by paying TOT taxes to the city.

We purchased our historic property in 2014 (the old Begovich Boarding House

property) because it was surrounded by residential property and under the city’s promise that
residential zoning was highly valued and would not change. We were told to expect homes here, not
a large-scale amusement attraction.

We bought the Begovich Boarding House property as two tear-downs and worked with the city
to lovingly restore them. They are a rich part of Plymouth’s mining history, and we did not want to
see more of our town’s history lost. They are currently eligible for inclusion on the list of historic
state landmarks, and we are in the process of registering them on the National Registry—not an
easy process.

Now, on the adjacent property, a large-scale attraction is being rushed through. The new
homeowners purchased the Emerson residential property with the intention of not using it as it is
zoned and then waited until the 11th hour to ask permission to open a large-scale attraction—
blindsiding everyone. Indeed, the proposed Haunted Forest start date is before the approval
process can be completed. If this project is approved for the commission to recommend to the City
Council, we will appeal, and by law we are allowed our appellate process before the Haunted
Mansion can open. Approval should have been sought when solutions could have been discussed.
Actually, one shouldn’t buy property zoned one way with the specific intent to use it another. To bring
1000s of cars down a narrow road that is in poor shape is unconscionable.

What’s proposed has already cost us. Since we began vacation renting in 2014, we’ve had zero
complaints and have 5 stars—five, not 4.98, but five on this property. Our first complaint came
during the fair this year. The new owner of the property in question allowed the fair to use his
property as overflow parking. The car lights from the parking lot shine directly into all three
bedrooms of our house. Our guests complained to us and Airbnb, and we lost well over $1,500. We
didn’t say anything because we support the fair and the owners were just trying to be nice—we get

1



this. Then, last weekend, we were forced to refund another $500 because tractor work began in
the early morning hours. When we must refund customers, we not only lose what they paid, but we
also absorb the water and utilities costs of resources those guests used—and we all know how
expensive electricity and water are these days.

Asking our guests—and our neighborhood—to endure this over 21 days of nuisance from 6:00
p-m. to after 10:00 p.m. is not reasonable. Add the road traffic and the people noise, and it
becomes untenable.

October is our busiest month, and this October is slated to be our busiest month ever due to
significant advertising and extras we have put into our rentals. If the Haunted Forest is allowed to
open, we must notify every guest that we cannot deliver the “quiet stay” we advertise. It is highly
likely that we will be forced to issue over $7,000 in refunds—again, on target to be our best month
ever. This is signifiant growth for us, in a time when all business are struggling, this is an untenable
ask of us.

There are safety concerns, too. Pacific Street is narrow—in places, two cars can’t even pass—
and it’s in rough shape. More traffic will make a bad situation worse, not to mention the crime, fire
hazard, and riffraff this type of event brings.

| also want to address intent and zoning. The new owners purchased this property already
zoned residential, with the intention of operating a large-scale amusement. That purpose is not
residential. By contrast, we purchased two historic homes—both tear-downs—and invested to
restore them, keeping as much period detail as possible in a town where historic buildings are
being lost. We followed the zoning and built our livelihood around it.

Choosing to grant the request to operate the Haunted Forest would be choosing a business that
wants to operate in an area not zoned for it over an established residential business that has
complied with the rules, preserved historic assets, and relied on the city’s word. We bought in a
residential zone because we trusted the city’s commitment. Please honor that commitment. Protect
our neighborhood, our safety, and our livelihoods. Keep this area residential and do not approve a
large-scale amusement use here.

Potential solution: While not ideal—because the safety, fire crime, and security concerns of the
Haunted Forest still exist—residential disruption can be minimized and Pacific Street, which

is narrow and barely in the condition to withstand normal wear and tear, can be protected if the
Haunted Mansion moves its parking lot to the property entrance near the substation. There, it
will not impact houses or a tiny road not meant for extreme traffic.

Thank you for your time.



Anonymous RECE'VED
SEP 16 2025

City of Plymouth
Plymouth, CA 95669

Haunted Forest: Conditional Use Permit PA 2025-12
Comments regarding this project:

Problems:

Pacific Street-This road is not travel friendly, it needs to be resurfaced at the minimum and
if not widened, turned into a one-way street. The extra traffic that would be incurred would
further destroy the roads’ integrity, it probably does not see that much use in a year, yet
alone a month.

Neighbor’s-This is a big ask for the residents and businesses that are on Pacific Street to
endure for more than a couple of days.

Solution:

These owners have a large amount of acreage at their disposal. It would be more
appropriate to set up this event at the northern end of the properties with access near the
PG&E substation. This would alleviate any path of entry, and noise issues for residents and
would place the event in a more secluded area so as not to disrupt others.

Apples to Apples- This is a jump-scare activity in a rural community. A reasonable
comparison would be Preston Castle Haunt.

Plymouth Community. Accept a project and guide your representatives to make it yours.

¥

Sedona Arizona refused to let
McDonalds disrupt their desert
town. McDonalds was only allowed
in if it blended with the community.
Sedona has the only teal arches
ever placed at the restaurant chain
as well as an exterior
complimentary to the desert
theme.




Jmu ry February March April M y JLn July AugL September Octobe Novefnt“ er Deceﬂber
e e e P PR Tt 19”...20.. T T

1 )N\ y\a\me, s \< v';g:é,LUQ/c,A O\,V\O'(, /’V)o VC¢{ ‘Fo B
) }YM ‘/’ |V\.,.202_O Zhis is. W\Z/___f,rs:‘— Afne
o\;f'?q 3 2o Fhe C‘.'} O\.V\o( ou,gl\ _L,Oo\:lo( be—f/«/t o

/V\\/ nelahgor ,nﬁormea/meﬂm-lf <ome $hin 3
/&J/y \‘3; and CXC‘o“hj - bC;r\j built at Fhe
B oPPrv‘y o\rouno/\%e Corrmer Krom v s. This Profecky

cen © p Cor man OXV"\QA)/ qus anod weve.
ﬁoftceo/ Fhe ?ransfo""”“ 190n Z1NCE A K& receny
PU" ase . Ql&af‘ahs o % b"V?-/s've"[C/‘e—‘\h

_L Wauno'{o/ea/dvef‘ /as?L wee{;eno(_ a,mo'(,
| S/-grea.n 9ree*f~eoﬂ m e o;zf\o( ?nswf/ey/ 50;«; e
e M vesil lO/\S an e,v----v{Cnou\) X du'f'
Lhne ) o~ 72_9, ey mvs}L o»(;v(m,% Z was So
/W\p/essej ._Lc‘owv\*e A way Crom Fhis coi“
&Xcl%z'man‘/' Sor Qo r Commuﬂﬂ/y Oxno{ o\,/&a _
{5/71’ - 7L oS . vr‘(vc;l' For‘ %ﬁ, Mant///\ “~—
O {.@bfr fd @ ye o th bhe events ot Fhe

B 5«, le a\vxo'( S/ve /‘ébq\ 0\ /‘e, r‘ca‘gass /D na {

nd kKrnoeo W hot Yhey o\/a a/n owvel 7

~§’ v //y Sopport be ry Ox.r\ ex ed» oV
Commu»ﬂm(y J =0 O»S (e //.

C See yOuax\f %Jm V\eyrf/m eel) r\j
\L ¢ tsltr\ o R ____._.H 'f,_.__:_:_'f_f,.
RECEIVED:_:_’f o

SEP 172025

' Clty of Plymouth
e PIERG U, CA 9566



Cameron Begbie
|

From: Elizabeth Chapin-Pinotti

Sent: Monday, September 15, 2025 3:58 PM

To: Cameron Begbie

Subject: The Haunted Forest Has Changed Our Minds

Dear Cameron,

Steve and | have spoken with Sherean and Sam Maynard, owners of the Haunted Forest
Experience, and most of our concerns have been alleviated—so much so that we believe not
allowing the experience would be detrimental to the long-term health of Plymouth, and this is
not an exaggeration. The Maynards have operated a similar experience in Winters for over ten
years. In that time, they have refined ticketing to prevent unruly crowds by preselling tickets
online only, and they establish price points that discourage trouble, among other safeguards.

This is not the typical haunted house that drives away families and attracts people looking to
make trouble, as in the attractions referenced in my prior emails. The Haunted Forest
proactively mitigates risks by:

« Having hard capacity caps

« Bundling parking with each ticket so people cannot dodge fees by street-parking

» Minimizing party-age and/or guardian rules (as relevant) to discourage rowdy teen groups
« Advertising “candle-lit” paths while actually using battery lanterns

Most importantly, in the ten years they have been in operation, they have not had a single
incident of the kind that plagues other Halloween attractions. They staff adequately and
deliver a clean, wholesome experience.

In short, this attraction will be good for the City of Plymouth. Their long-term plans can help
our economy and may even return Plymouth to a destination rather than a bedroom
community for Shenandoah Valley wine country.

Our only remaining concern is the proposed location of the parking lot on Pacific Street.
Pacific Street is a narrow, sparsely lit road—barely two cars can pass at once—and it is in
poor condition.

Our adjacent vacation rental would be adversely affected if this parking lot is used. During
the fair, we had to refund guests because headlights from vehicles in that lot shone directly
into the bedroom windows, undermining our promise of a quiet stay. We accepted this during
fair, because well—fair; however, this issue can be mitigated as well.

1



Itis the Maynards who have an effective solution—indeed, adhering to their original plan is
the solution. That is to route access via a driveway they own by the PG&E Substation.
Unfortunately, they have been told, perhaps erroneously, that they could not use this
driveway without a Caltrans permit; however, this driveway has existed for over 150 years,
was used to accommodate Hangtown crowds exceeding upwards of 50,000 people and has
been in continuous use the 1800s. It predates Caltrans and should be subjected to the same
rules as every other driveway along that stretch of the road—to be grandfathered in.

The issue is, the Maynards were told they could not use this driveway without Caltrans
involvement. They have been working with Caltrans for months but were informed there was
not enough time to process the request. But a permit may not actually be required because
every other driveway and road off Highway 49 has been grandfathered in; at one point this
driveway must have been as well.

According to Caltrans’ own manual: on a State Highway, you generally do not need an
encroachment permit merely to continue using an existing driveway. Caltrans requires
permits for proposed activities or placement of encroachments (construction or
modification), but not for mere use. The Maynards do not plan to modify anything—only to
use an existing driveway that is in far better condition and much safer than using Pacific
Street. This was their original plan, and it benefits and enhances their attraction.

Similarly, cities typically require an encroachment permit only when work is performed in the
public right-of-way. If nothing is changing, there is usually no permit requirement. Bottom
line: continuing to use the driveway as-is typically does not require a change.

Thank you for your consideration. We support approval of the Haunted Forest Experience and
respectfully request that access and parking be routed via the historic substation driveway
rather than Pacific Street.

Sincerely,
Steve and Elizabeth Pinotti



Cameron Begbie

From: Elizabeth Chapin-Pinotti

Sent: Tuesday, September 16, 2025 2:30 PM

To: Cameron Begbie

Subject: Apologies, but this may come up- the city doesn't own Pacific Street
Hi,

Sorry to bother you again, but John Colburn stopped us on the street today and asked about the Haunted
Forest, the capacity and the traffic. We told him we supported the project and as he had concerns, we
explained the situation.

He is concerned about road flow down Pacific Street (he lives on the street). We explained what the Maynards
actually wanted to do — use the access by the substation—and he basically said that using the driveway
by the substation may be all they can do, because — get this - the city does not own Pacific Street but only
has prescriptive rights to it and has no right or legal authority to increase the traffic flow or it (among a number
of other restrictions). And if anyone in this city knows about deeds and the government workings of Plymouth—
it's Jon.

| did some research and put it below.

What | am afraid may happen is that this will be brought up at the planning commission meeting, then the
planning director will give her opinion about Caltrans — perhaps leaving the planning department with no way
to grant the use permit. | will not bring it up, but it isn't my idea. | didn’t even know such a thing existed. | did;
however do a little research on the topic and have put it below:

City Rights Under a Prescriptive Road Use (California)

What rights the city generally has
1) Keep using the road for the same kind of travel that created the right.

The use is limited to the character and intensity proven by the historic use (e.g., vehicular/pedestrian
passage along a defined corridor). The city can't switch to a materially different use or allow a material
increase in traffic based on their actions.

2) Use the width proven by use (plus what's reasonably necessary).

Courts set a practical width based on the traveled way and what's reasonably needed for turnouts/shoulders.
A court may affirm a defined roadway width with “all purposes necessary or beneficial” so long as it does not
impose a greater burden on the servient land.

3) Enter to maintain and repair the road to keep it passable and safe.

The easement holder has the right (and often the duty) to do reasonable maintenance/repair. For public
entities, that typically means keeping the road in substantially the same condition and usability without
increasing the burden on the owner.

4) Make reasonable, in-kind upkeep—grading, graveling, clearing drainage.
“Maintenance” preserves usability. It does not obligate the city to add new protective structures that never

existed, and it does not authorize heavier improvements that increase the burden beyond the historical use.

5) Enforce the right against blockages.



If the owner erects a fence/gate or builds across the corridor, the city can seek an injunction requiring
removal if it obstructs the easement. Courts routinely order removal of obstructions and forbid gates that
unreasonably impede passage.

What the city generally cannot do under a mere prescriptive right
6) It cannot expand or intensify the use beyond what was established.

No widening, no major traffic increase, and no new or different burdens that exceed the historical use without
consent or new rights (e.g., purchase/condemnation).

7) It cannot exclude the fee owner or claim an “exclusive” possession.
Prescriptive easements are non-possessory. Courts reject “exclusive prescriptive easements” that
effectively oust the owner from practical use.

8) It cannot rely on “public use alone” (post-1972, non-coastal) to make the road public.
For non-coastal private property in California, the public's post-1972 use, by itself, does not ripen into a
public road; Civil Code §1009(b) blocks implied public dedication based solely on public use.

9) It cannot claim prescription against land already owned by a public entity.
Civil Code §1007 bars gaining prescriptive rights against property owned by a public entity.

Bottom line: A city holding only a prescriptive right to a road has a narrow, non-possessory right: keep using
the route as historically used; do reasonable maintenance to preserve that use; and stop obstructions. It
cannot enlarge the corridor, intensify traffic, or exclude the owner without acquiring additional rights
(agreement or eminent domain). And it can’t rest a claim to a public road on public use alone post-1972
(non-coastal).

Practical takeaways for Pacific Street (Plymouth): If the city never followed the process for a prescriptive
easement, they should do so now because the road is owned by the property owners when the mine was
sold. This goes for the other streets in town as well.

Short version: The rights didn't vanish when the mine sold- it merely transfers to an agreement with the new
landowners Aprescriptive roadway easement (or a vested right under Civil Code §1009(d)) is an interest in
real property that runs with the land and binds the buyer—especially where the street and the City’s
maintenance/signage give obvious, on-the-ground notice. Justia Law+2Justia Law+2 But sale of the
property, does not give the city any additional rights.

The City's prescriptive/§1009(d) right is limited to this historic corridor and intensity of use—continues
against a new owner. The buyer steps into the mine’s shoes. The City can't grant such an increase in traffic.
While there is less than 1% Jon is wrong about this, | am sure Plymouth has a deed book and can look up the
road deeds. He was probably on the council when this transpired.

Again, | apologize for bothering you again. | know this is not your priority and that you have a million things to
do, | just don't want this coming up to bite the Maynards. | know I've done a 180 about this, but | can
easily admit that | was wrong, in the long run - if done property - this will help Plymouth,
and the Maynards have put a lot of time and money into the project. Plus, they are so
sweet and lost everything a few years ago in a lightning complex wildfire so | don’t want to
see them lose anymore.

Thank you for your time.
Sincerely,

Elizabeth



Dana Knight

From: STEVEN PINOTTI

Sent: Thursday, September 18, 2025 8:28 AM

To: Dana Knight; Cameron Begbie; Victoria McHenry

Subject: Re: PC Regular Meeting Agenda and Packet for September 18, 2025
Hi Dana,

Elizabeth and | would like to formally rescind our objection to the Haunted Forest project and if it is
possible have these letters pulled. If it is too late, we will be at the meeting.

Thanks,
Steve and Elizabeth

On 09/15/2025 4:26 PM PDT Dana Knight <dknight@cityofplymouth.org> wrote:

Hello,

Attached is the Agenda and Packet for the Planning Commission meeting on Thursday,
September 18th. We hope you can join us.

Sincerely,

7)) P
Dana

Dana Knight

Planning Clerk

City of Plymouth

A Purple Heart City

9426 Main Street/PO Box 429
Plymouth, Ca 95669

209-245-6941 Ext. 254



From: Terri Sweet

To: Dana Knight
Subject: Fwd: Halloween event proposal
Date: Thursday, September 18, 2025 3:38:08 PM

Hi Dana. I’'m sorry I forgot to copy you. Regards, Terri Sweet
Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: Terri Sweet

Date: September 16, 2025 at 7:04:10 AM PDT

To: wklaproth@cityofplymouth.org, msullivan@cityofplymouth.org,
tmikkelsen@cityofplymouth.org

Subject: Halloween event proposal

September 16, 2025
Dear Planning Commissioners:

I just received the agenda for your September 18, 2025 meeting. I'm very
surprised that there are not more letters from Plymouth residents about it. This is
the first I'm hearing of it and I suppose many others have not.

This would not be just a disruption for surrounding residents. Just think of all the
traffic noise up until after midnight, and how the noise travels in Plymouth. We
live in Burke Ranch yet we can hear the events from downtown. The hills are
alive with music and other things we don't want to be awakened by.

I cannot imagine who neighborhoods having their sleep disturbed for a whole
month every year, as this would be a permanent fixture. Did proponents buy the
property before getting approval? Why would anyone do that?

The neighbor who has a short term rental will not only lose business for that
month, they would get terrible reviews that would ruin their business. They will
have to block off the entire time the Halloween venue is operating. That means
they will lose 30 days of income every year.

Please protect the residents of Plymouth and deny this proposal.

Thank you for considering my comments.

Sincerely,
Terri Sweet

Plimou‘[hi CA 95669



Planning Commission and City Council 9/17/2025

City of Plymouth, CA 95669

Re: Support for Use Permit — Haunted/Enchanted Forest Experience 9424 Pacific Street, Plymouth, CA 85669
Applicants: Sam and Sherean Maynard

Dear Members of the Planning Commission and City Council,

We, the undersigned neighbors and community members, are writing to express our strong support for the approval of the
Use Permit application submitted by Sam and Sherean Maynard for the proposed Haunted/Enchanted Forest experience
at 9424 Pacific Street in Plymouth.

This seasonal attraction presents a unique opportunity to bring a safe, family-friendly, and engaging activity to Amador
County during the fall and Halloween season. Our community has limited options for entertainment, and the
Haunted/Enchanted Forest would provide a much-needed event that appeals to families, youth, and adults alike.

In addition to creating memorable experiences for participants, this project will:

e Provide temporary jobs and valuable work experience for local residents.

e Stimulate economic activity by encouraging visitors to dine at local restaurants and shop in nearby retail stores.

e Strengthen community spirit by offering an event that residents can enjoy close to home.
It is also important to note that in the short seven months since purchasing the property, the Maynards have aiready
proven themselves to be excellent neighbors and supportive community members. They have cleaned up and improved
the property, been consistently friendly and neighborly, and even offered their property for overflow parking during the
County Fair. Their dedication and generosity show the kind of positive impact they are aiready making in Plymouth, and
we believe this project will only add to that.

We believe the Haunted/Enchanted Forest will be a positive addition to the cultural and economic life of Plymouth and the
broader Amador County area. Sam and Sherean Maynard have shown dedication and vision in developing this proposal,
and we are confident they will operate the event responsibly, safely, and with respect for our community.

For these reasons, we urge you to grant the requested Use Permit. Thank you for your thoughtful consideration and for
supporting opportunities that enrich the lives of Plymouth residents and families throughout Amador County.

Respectfully submttted : z /

Lindsey Clark & Clayton Morris --Pacn" ¢ Stredt/Plymouth

Ml b JeA

Samantha Churcher & James Tokewch —-Pa0|f ic Street, Plymouth
Potnes G20t 7 o '
%a‘ Tl z'“d ?

Melvin & Patricia Cossairt— [JJJiiPacific Street, Plymouth 54‘6v< Ward

janm

Maria Jaqueline Lépez Morales, Carlos David Morales Morales Rocio Lop z Vega ~ acific Street Plymouth




8.1



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 8.1
9/18/2025

SUBJECT: Objective Design Standards
DEPARTMENT: Planning Department

STAFF: Erica Fraser, AICP, Planning Director

TITLE

Review of modifications to existing requirements related to the Objective Design
Standards for the City of Plymouth.

BACKGROUND

During the review of a prior project, the Planning Commission requested that Staff bring
back a discussion of the permitted and conditionally permitted uses within the downtown.

Properties in the downtown are zoned VC (Village Commercial). There are a number of
permitted and conditionally permitted uses within this zoning district.

Permitted uses are uses permitted by right and only a Business License is required to
operate the use. These uses are uses that the City does not believe will cause significant
impacts on the surrounding area.

Administrative Use Permits (AUP) require review by the Planning Director and the
Director provides a notice to all properties within 300 feet of the property if approved.
These uses are considered to be uses which are minor in nature and unlikely to cause
significant impacts, but which the City has determined warrants review to ensure they will
not impact the adjacent properties.

Conditionally permitted uses (CUP) are uses which require review by the Planning
Commission during a public hearing. These uses are considered to have the potential for
impacts and therefore by reviewing the use during a public hearing, the public has a
chance to comment, and the Planning Commission can impose conditions which seek to
reduce negative impacts. Both the AUP and CUP also allow the City to review the
proposal, ensure there is adequate parking, and work with the applicant prior to the
hearing to reduce potential impacts.



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 8.1
9/18/2025

Chapter 19.14 outlines the process and review for all use permits within the City.

DISCUSSION

Staff is requesting feedback on the current and proposed modifications to the use list for
commercial property (Section 19.60.030 of the Zoning Ordinance). Staff has made some
minor recommendations for changes, but the purpose of this Study Session is to hear
from the Planning Commission and the public on what uses should be permitted, not
permitted and conditionally permitted.

While the Planning Commission indicated that they would like to review uses for the
downtown, Staff has included all the commercial zoning districts in this discussion so that
any changes are considered citywide.

A description of each commercial zoning district can be found in Section 19.60.020 of the
Zoning Ordinance. Chapter 19.98, Glossary, contains definitions for most of the uses
listed.

Staff's recommended changes are shown below. New text is shown in bold font and
underlined. Deleted text is shown in red font with strikethrough. The yellow cells are uses
which currently do not have a definition in the glossary and staff will create a definition as
part of this undertaking.

Table 19.60.030-1 Use Matrix for Commercial and Industrial Zoning Districts

vC sC HC/C I/IBP
Animal Hospital/Boarding N AUP P P
Auctions/Auction House P P P P
Auto Repair & Service, Minor and NP GUR AUP CUP R P
Major—Ne-Gas
Auto Sales & Rentals N AUP AUP P
Auto Storage Yard/Towing N N CUP P
Bar/Cocktail Lounge CUP CuP CuP CuP
Banquet Hall/Lodge/Club P P P P
Eoormeitinemstrg-nheeasen s R R R R
Brewery/Distillery/Winery AUP AUP AUP AUP
Building/Garden Materials Yard N AUP AUP P
Car Wash N AUP AUP P

Convenience Market Stere P P P P



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 8.1

9/18/2025
vc sC HC/C I/IBP

cue cup cue =]
Emergency Shelter N P P P
Equipment Rental Yard N AUP P AUP
Farmers' Market P AUP AUP AUP
Gasoline & Propane Sales N AUP AUP AUP
Hospital—Health-Care AUP AUP P P
Hotel/Motel AUP P AUR PGUR AUP
Liquor Store N CuUP CUP CuUP
Medical or Nonmedical Marijuana N N N N
Dispensaries
Medical or Nonmedical Marijuana N N N N
Cultivation—Qutdoor
Medical or Nonmedical Marijuana Per Per Per Per
Cultivation—6 Plants Within Ch. 19.94 Ch.19.94 Ch.19.94 Ch.19.94
Residence or Accessory Structure
Commercial Marijuana Uses N N N N
LoD e Live CuP CUP CuUP CUP
Entertainment
Office—All Professional Services P P P P
Outdoor Gathering—Events TUP! TUP? TUP! TUP?
Outdoor Storage Facility N N CUP CuUP
Personal Services P P P NP
Private Schools CUPR CUPR CUPR CUPR
Theatass A Fr = A N
Restaurant, Ne-Alcohol P P P AUP
Restaurant, with Drive-Through N AUP AUP AUP
Restaurant, with Bar CUP CUP CUP CuUP
Restaurant. Outdoor Dining AUP AUP AUP AUP
Retail, General Bersonal-Goods P P P CUP
Retail—More Than 5,000 sq ft CuUP AUP P CUP
Retail (Accessory) P P P P



Religious Facility
Winery Tasting Room

Manufacturing, Resource
Processing, Utility

Ambulance Service
Assembly—Small Shop
Asphalt/Concrete/Batch Plant
Emergency Response (Fire, Police)
Manufacturing/Assembly
Mining/Quarry/Extraction
Mortuary/Funeral Parlor

Parking Lot

Recreational Vehicle Storage
Facility

Recycling Collection Area
Truck Parking/Storage
Transfer Facility—Waste
Vehicle Dismantling/Salvage Yard
Warehouse/Self Storage
Wholesale Distribution Center
Wind Energy Conversion
Residential Uses
Convalescent Home Faeility
Dwellings, Single-Family
Dwellings, Multifamily
Dwellings, Above Commercial
Employee Housing
Live-Work

Supportive Housing

Transitional Housing

|0

AUP

AUP
NP P

P .ol

zZ Z =2

SC

|0

AUP

AUP

AUP
CUP

AUP

CUP

CUP
CUP
AUP
CUP
AUP
CUP
CUP

HC/C

AUP

AUP

P AUR

CUP

AUP
AUP
CUP

AUP
CUP
CUP

CUP
CuUP

AUP
CUP
CUP
AUP
CUP

CUP
CUP

PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 8.1

9/18/2025

I/IBP
P

AUP

AUP

CUP

P AUR

AUP
CUP

CUP
CUP
CUP
CUP
CUP
CUP
CUP



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 8.1
9/18/2025

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING PURPOSE

The purpose of tonight’s meeting is to discuss and give staff direction on any changes or
additions the Planning Commission would like made to the Use Matrix for commercial
properties.

NEXT STEPS

Following tonight’s meeting, Staff will bring the revised use matrix to the Planning
Commission for review during a study session along with proposed amendments to
Chapter 19.18, Zoning Clearance and Design Review. Together, these amendments are
aimed at providing clear requirements for permits and to allow additional uses within the
City to support the community.

ATTACHMENTS

None





